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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEBNWR TN

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

During the year, the Group continued to engage in property related
businesses, provision of horticultural services, money lending
business, securities trading business, manufactures graphene and
trading of graphene related products. The Group's revenue of the
year was mainly derived from horticultural services.

In 2017, the Group changed its intention to hold The Icon, the
developed property as investment properties. The Group was
optimistic on the local investment property market especially
residential rental market. The Directors believed that holding the
developed properties for long term investment to generate rental
income will enhance the Group's financial performance. Rental
indices for Hong Kong domestic property market raised from 100 in
2010 to 180 in 2017 proved that leasing properties to earn rental
income helps to gain attractive investment return for our
Shareholders.

As a result of the change of accounting policy from “developed
properties for sale” to “investment properties”, the Group recorded a
fair value gain of approximately HK$110 million in 2017. This change
established a new business segment of property investment in year
2017.

The Group recorded profit for the year of approximately
HK$51,898,000. Such increase is mainly attributable to fair value gain
of investment properties.

The Group operates horticultural services business under the brand
“Cheung Kee Garden”, which has over forty years' history and sound
reputation in the local market. This business segment has a long
established customer base and remained a stable income stream to
the Group during the year under review.

The Group started the new segment of graphene manufacturing and
sales since last year. The joint venture partner, Graphene Platform,
shall be obliged to construct the graphene production machinery
and equipment and it is still in progress. The Directors expect that
the construction process will be finished in 2018 and the production
line will start from the fourth quarter of 2018. During the year, the
Group purchased certain graphene product according to a
customer’s request and the sale of graphene was amounted to
approximately HK$63,000.

The net asset value of the Group per share as at 31 December 2017

was approximately HK$0.10 (2016: HK$0.08) based on the
2,819,102,084 (2016: 2,819,102,084) shares issued.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEBNWR TN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

All the Group's funding and treasury activities are centrally managed
and controlled at the corporate level. There is no significant change
in respect of treasury and financing policies from the information
disclosed in the Company’s latest annual report. The Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities are denominated and the Group
conducts its business transactions principally in Hong Kong dollars.
In view of the business segment in Japan, the Group manages its
foreign currency risk by closely reviewing the movement of the
foreign currency rate and considers hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2017, there was HK$200,000,000 bank loans
outstanding (2016: HK$120,000,000). The Group’s working capital
requirements are funded by bank loans.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 41 employees
(2016: 31).

Employees (including directors) are remunerated according to their
duties and responsibilities, market conditions and performance of
the Group. On top of basic salaries, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible employee by reference to the
individual’s performance. In addition, the Company also provides
social security benefits to its staff such as mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

The directors herein present their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 20 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review and prospects

A business review of the Group’s and a discussion and analysis of
the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December 2017,
the financial position and an indication of likely future development
in the Company’s business are set out in section headed “Business
Review and Prospects” on page 4 of this Annual Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The major risks facing the Group are summarized below.

Impact of local and international regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government
policy, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely
monitors changes in government policies, regulations and markets
as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-party risk

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in parts
of business to improve performance and efficiency of the Group.
While gaining the benefits from external service providers, the
management realizes that such operational dependency may pose a
threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service
including reputation damage, business disruption and monetary
losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages only
reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their
performance.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Environmental policies and performance

The Company persistently strive to operate its business in an
economic, social and environmentally sustainable manner. During
the year, while seeking business growth, the Group assumed its
corporate environmental and social responsibilities proactively by
making constant progress towards sustainable development. The
Group has developed and improved its environmental policies,
optimised the efficiency in the use of energy and resources,
advocated and promoted environmental protection and reduced the
impact of its business development on the environment.

Details of the Company’s environmental policy and performance are
published in the separate Environmental, Social and Governance
Report which will be available at the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange not later than 3 months after the
publication of this annual report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The incorporation places of the Company and its subsidiaries
includes Bermuda, Hong Kong, the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
and Japan. The Group's operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Japan while the Company itself is
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations of Bermuda, Hong Kong, the BVI and Japan.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, we have complied with all
the relevant laws and regulations in the statutory and business
operation.

Key relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers

The Group promoted people-oriented management cultures and
emphasized the value of employees as it believed employees were
important resources for enhancing the Company’s productivity and
core competency. To provide employees with competitive
remunerations and opportunities to receive skill trainings is closely
connected to the realization of employees’ individual values as well
as the Group's strategic goals.

The Group maintained good cooperation and communications with
suppliers and ensured both sides were mutually benefited. The
Group also paid close attention to customers’ satisfaction and
constantly enhanced service quality in order to maintain good
reputation of the Company.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 and the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages
40 to 114.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2017.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on the page 116 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group are set out in
note 18 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company'’s share capital during the year are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) was Nil (2016: Nil).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTION

During the year, the Group made charitable contribution totaling
JPY2,100,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 38% (2016: 35%) of the total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 13%
(2016: 17%).

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 77%
(2016: 94%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to 23% (2016: 83%).

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors, their close
associates, nor those shareholders which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares had
any interest in the five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chen Meng

Mr. Zhou Chen (Appointed on 1 February 2018)

Mr. Yuan Li Min (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 16 January 2018)

Mr. Mak Tin Sang (Resigned on 16 May 2017)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Feng Mao (Chairman)
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wang Song Ling (Appointed on 21 July 2017)
Mr. Li Jing Bo

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Appointed on 1 February 2018)
Mr. Leung Po Hon (Resigned on 9 November 2017)
Mr. Shigeki Tanaka (Resigned on 2 May 2017)

In accordance with the Company's Bye-law 86(2), Mr. Zhou Chen, Mr.
Wang Song Ling and Mr. Li Wai Kwan shall hold office only until the
forthcoming annual general meeting, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Moreover, in accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 87(1), Mr. Li
Jing Bo will retire from office by rotation, being eligible, offer himself
for re-election as director at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriated directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company:
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Number and class

Nature of interest of shares held Percentage
Name of director EZE# £ EEME FrEROEE RER Aotk
Li Feng Mao TEE Interest of controlled corporation 2,112,395,735 74.93%
SR AE R ordinary shares
[ a=gilila
Note: B E -

Mr. Li Feng Mao (“Mr. Li") was deemed to have 2,112,395,735 shares held by HK Guoxin
Investment Group Limited by virtue of it being wholly-owned by Mr. Li.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
directors and the chief executive of the Company were, under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, taken to be interested or
deemed to have any other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company, that were required
to be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Purpose of the scheme

The existing share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company
was adopted on 25 June 2013 for the purposes of enabling the Group
to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of
the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

Participants of the scheme

The directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite eligible participants, including the directors or any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group or an affiliate, and any
consultant, agent, or advisor of the Group or an affiliate, to take up
options (the “Option(s)”) to subscribe for shares of the Company
under the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue

On the adoption date of 25 June 2013, the total number of shares of
the Company (the “Shares”) available for issue under the Scheme
were 263,165,208, representing 10% of the issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the Scheme.

On 27 May 2016, the ordinary resolution of refreshment of the
Scheme limit was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company. As at 31 December 2017, total number of
Share available for further issue under the Scheme was 281,910,208,
representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no Option had been
granted, exercised, lapsed, or was cancelled under the Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which the Options
may be granted to any one participant in any twelve-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue from time
to time.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Time of exercise of option

The Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the directors
of the Company and not exceeding ten years from the date of the
grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within twenty-
one days from the date of offer upon an initial payment of HK$1 in
total for each acceptance.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of the Options is determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(@ the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of the grant,
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

()  the nominal value of a Share.
Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme became effective on 25 June 2013 and will remain in
force for a period of 10 years from that date.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the company had
a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of the
information on director is as follows:

Mr. Zhou Chen was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 March 2018.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of transactions between the Group and parties regarded as
“Related Parties” under applicable accounting principles are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements. No transaction disclosed
thereto constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction of the Company subject to, among other things,
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or any of their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of the
following substantial shareholders (other than persons who were
directors and chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, were as follows:

FERR 2RO ER

RZZB—tF+A=+—H " TIAEERR(RX
NAEERTBITRABRINRARRZ M K&
MR - A ARRBIRIRE M HE 55 336
G RERFEZ BELMATRE 2 EmSOXR A
T ¢

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the RADNTRGEEBRAZEHA :
company:
Number and
class of
Name of shareholders Nature of interest shares held Percentage
RREH EEME PR B R EH £
HK Guoxin Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("HK GuOXin") (ote EmEAA ordinary shares
BEEBEEHERESEERA AR
(TEBRE]) W=D
Clever Robust Limited (“Clever Robust”) Note2 Person having a security 2,112,395,735 74.93%
Clever Robust Limited ([ Clever Robust | )2 interest in shares ordinary shares
RIS BHERAT TR
Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
(“Huarong Inv. Stock”) Mote2 corporation ordinary shares
ERIRERMN AR AR ([FERIZERG ]) W2 G AE R =R liiliha
Right Select International Limited Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
(“Right Select”) MNote2 corporation ordinary shares
Right Select International Limited RIEFEE R Rl
(TRight Select ] ) 2
China Huarong International Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
(“China Huarong Int’l’ ) (B2 corporation ordinary shares
B E R BRI IR AR A REFEE R SRl
([ B ZERRBIRR | ) W2
PEEREEEERNHERAA] Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("HREGEE ") Mot corporation ordinary shares
EP!%@H%?FEIEM BRATA ZEHAE R TR

(TR A | )W
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
company: (continued)

Notes:
Q) The entire issued shares of HK Guoxin were owned by Mr. Li Feng Mao.

2 On 14 December 2017, the Company was notified by DION system, five DI notices
were filed with the Stock Exchange pursuant to section 324 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance from Clever Robust, Huarong Inv. Stock, Right
Select, China Huarong Int'l and 42 ElZ£ 58 & 2 . According to these notices, Clever
Robust became having securities interest in 2,112,395,735 shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) which beneficially owned by HK Guoxin, the Shares were
charged to Clever Robust on 11 December 2017, while Huarong Inv. Stock, Right
Select, China Huarong Int'l and B %= g8 & Z own corporate interests of the
Shares through its interest in Clever Robust.

(3) On 14 December 2017, the Company also was notified by received two DI notices
pursuant to section 324 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance from
Zhongtai International Asset Management Limited (“Zhongtai Int'l”) and Qilu
International Funds SPC (“Qilu”). According to these notices, Zhongtai Int’l and
Qilu ceased to have securities interest in the Shares. The charge of the Shares
between Zhongtai and HK Guoxin was released on 12 December 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Company had
not been notified of any other persons (other than persons who were
directors and chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 12 August 2016, the Company accepted a facility letter relating to
a two-year term loan facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$200,000,000 (the “Facility”) (the “Facility Letter”) offered by a
licensed bank in Hong Kong (the “Bank”).

As one of the undertakings requested by the Bank in the Facility
Letter, Mr. Li Feng Mao (the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company), shall hold, directly or indirectly, over 50% controlling
shares of the Company during the Facility period. A breach of the
aforesaid undertaking may constitute an event of default and all
amounts (including principal and interest) due or owing by the
Company to the Bank shall become immediately due and payable by
the Company.
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Directors’ Report
ESERE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of the report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

A resolution was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 27 May 2016, Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
(“Crowe Horwath") was appointed as auditor of the Company and to
hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of
the Company. But after taking into account several factors including
the level of audit works required, the level of audit fees and its
available internal resources, Crowe Horwath resigned as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 12 May 2017.

Afterwards, a resolution was approved by the shareholders at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 15 June 2017, RSM
Hong Kong (“RSM HK") was appointed as the new auditor of the
Company and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2017 were audited by RSM HK. RSM HK shall
retire as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of RSM HK as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Chen
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018

BE HEIEOALQT LHES

BE_ZE—+tF+_A=1T—RHILFE K27
SEEMAMBRARAMERE HEXEEAQF
ER EHES

DNREFRE

RIBEARRB A RAFAESZER  RIEESHA
RAREBHARG E#FT LTRAIBEZAR
FEIREKTE o

¥ B

BER-ZZE-—RNEAA-FTARTHREESF
RE LHE—BRER  HEEE(FE) G5
ERMBRAR(TBEESE]) BRERARRARZ
2D EFHEEARR TERRBFAGERR
b EERMABENEALIFE FAERARE
AANANERSBERREK  BEEEEEHET
RRRZEA - BT —tFRAAT - HER -

Hig BRREARRAR-_Z—LFXATHAE
TTRBRRERNARE LHE—BRER - PiInEE
(FR)etEHA((FREE ) CEZERR
REZ B EHEEARE TERRES
REBERBLE -

ARRBE-_T—tF+T-_A=T—"BHLEFEZ
REVMBHRRATREERZ - PREESRE
JEREEF R REAR R BZEEAD o 0 EERR
BFEAGLBRE-FARAERENZEPIEE
VERNNGIE S G

REREFS

5]
HITEE

g —T-/\F=A-+NAH

Annual Report 2017 « —Z—+FF 17



Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) believes that
good corporate governance is crucial to improve the efficiency and
performance of the Company and to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company had applied
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Code,
except that the Chairman of the Board was absent from the general
meeting of the Company due to other important engagement at the
relevant time.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than the Code. The Company will periodically review
and improve its corporate governance practices with reference to
the latest development of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Following specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors
The composition of the Board during the year of 2017 and up to the
date of this Report was as follows:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chen Meng

Mr. Zhou Chen (Appointed on 1 February 2018)

Mr. Yuan Li Min (Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 16 January 2018)

Mr. Mak Tin Sang (Resigned on 16 May 2017)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Feng Mao (Chairman)
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Corporate Governance Report

AN X 555 34

TEERME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) EES(E)

Composition Of the Board of Directors (continued) BEESNAR(E)

Independent non-executive directors: BYIHITESE :

Mr. Wang Song Ling (Appointed on 21 July 2017) FRIEEE(R_E—tFLtA-+—HEZE)
Mr. Li Jing Bo FOREA

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Appointed on 1 February 2018) EEERE(RE—N\E_A—BEEZF)

Mr. Leung Po Hon (Resigned on 9 November 2017) REZEGEE(R_ZE—F+—ANBEHIT)

Mr. Shigeki Tanaka (Resigned on 2 May 2017) AR EEEE(R-_ZE—t5FA A —HET)

The following table shows the attendance of each individual member TR ESZeRZEARNKELFEREE-_ZE—+
of the Board at the respective meetings of the Board and the F#+=-A=+—HIIEERTHRIAREETSLE
respective Board Committees as well as the general meeting held EZEee MR ASHCEHE

during the year ended 31 December 2017:

Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
£ 24 RE
Name of Directors EEng EzgeR ZEBER REgER REBER BRRAE
Executive directors: HiTEE
Mr. Chen Meng B LS 5/5 N/ATNE N/ATE N/ATE 22
Mr. Yuan Li Min toe [R 3L R S A i) 5/5 N/ANER N/AZREF N/ARE A 22
Mr. Mak Tin Sang tete2 BR A ENED 2/2 N/A @ N/ATEF N/AT & 0/0
Non-executive director: FHTEE -
Mr. Li Feng Mao FEREE 5/5 N/ATE N/ATE N/ATER 02
Independent non-executive directors: BUFNTEE
Mr. Wang Song Ling "3 THAIA 5 A s 2/2 "N 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. LiJing Bo FEREL 4/5 12 11 1”7 22
Mr. Leung Po Hon Mo PEE ;IR 5/5 2/2 11 11 2/2
Mr. Shigeki Tanaka M F AR R o A () 0/1 0/1 0/1 01 0/0
Notes: B aE -
1. Mr. Yuan Li Min resigned on 16 January 2018 1. RYREEER=ZZ—N\F— A+ HEHE
2. Mr. Mak Tin Sang resigned on 16 May 2017 2. BREAEER_Z—FRATRAEE
3. Mr. Wang Song Ling was appointed on 21 July 2017 3. FRIREEER_T—tF LA+ —HEZE
4. Mr. Leung Po Hon resigned on 9 November 2017 4. DEZEFADR T —tF+—ANBEE
5. Mr. Shigeki Tanaka resigned on 2 May 2017 5, HPXEEEER_ZE—+FHA-BEE
6. Mr. Zhou Chen and Mr. Li Wai Kwan were appointed as the directors of the 6. ARAERFTEELETINR_S—\F-A—BEZ{E
Company on 1 February 2018, so that they did not participate in the meetings of RADNBESR QU HIEVESEARARTR_Z—+F
the Company during the year of 2017. RNEBITZE5H%
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Functions of the Board

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). Apart from its
statutory duties, the Board reviews and approves the Group’s
strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions, annual business plans, reviews the financial
performance of the Group and evaluates the performance and
compensation of senior management personnel.

Guidelines are established which specify certain material
transactions that require the Board’s approval which include mergers
and acquisitions, divestments and major capital expenditure.

The Board has separate and independent access to management
and the company secretary. Management provides the Board with
reports of the Group's performance, financial position and prospects,
and these are reviewed by the Board at Board meeting. Directors
may obtain independent professional advice in furtherance of their
duties at the Group’s expense.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Independent non-executive directors

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, there
are three independent non-executive directors representing at least
one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-executive
directors, one of them has appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all of
them to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ continuous professional development
Directors are encourages to participate in continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year, all directors received briefings and updates on the
Group's business, operations, risk management and corporate
governance matters. Materials on new or changes to rules and
regulations applicable to the Company were provided to them. The
Company has received from each of Directors the confirmation on
and training record of taking continuous professional training.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the year of 2017, Mr. Li Feng Mao (“Mr. Li") performed the
role of the Chairman of the Company and Mr. Yuan Li Min (“Mr.
Yuan”) performed the role of the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company separately.

The aim of the separation of the roles of Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is to delineate their respective
areas of responsibility, power and authority. Mr. Li focuses on
formulating the corporate direction and strategies of the Company.
Mr. Yuan is responsible for the implementation of the strategic plans
and policies adopted by the Board effectively.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive and independent non-executive directors have
entered into letters of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company, including the requirement of retirement
by rotation and re-election or standing for re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company at least once every three years.
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The audit committee is
responsible for reviewing and monitoring the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Company, and shall assist
the Board to fulfill its responsibility over the audit process.

During the year of 2017 and up to the date of this Report, the Audit
Committee comprises all independent non-executive directors of the
Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (the Chairman of the Committee)
(Appointed on 1 February 2018)

Mr. Li Jing Bo

Mr. Wang Song Ling (Appointed on 21 July 2017)

Mr. Leung Po Hon (Resigned on 9 November 2017)

Mr. Shigeki Tanaka (Resigned on 2 May 2017)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee met
two occasions with the presence of external auditors and discharged
its responsibilities in its review of the interim and annual results. The
work performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31
December 2017 included reviewing and discussion of the following:

a. the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016 of the Group, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval;

b.  the consolidated financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2017 of the Group, with are recommendation to the
Board for approval;

c.  the appointment of the external auditor, the remuneration and
terms of engagement of external auditor, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

d. the risk management and internal control system of the Group;
e. the audit process and its effectiveness, audit fees and
independence and objectivity of the external auditors for the

year ended 31 December 2017, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval; and
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit committee (continued)
f. the compliance status of the Group with the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 of the Group, with
a recommendation to the Board for approval.

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference. The
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all directors and senior
management of the Company.

During the year of 2017 and up to the date of this Report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises all independent non-executive
directors of the Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Li Jing Bo (the Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Wang Song Ling (Appointed on 21 July 2017)
Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Appointed on 1 February 2018)
Mr. Leung Po Hon (Resigned on 9 November 2017)
Mr. Shigeki Tanaka (Resigned on 2 May 2017)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and preformed the work included the followings:

a. reviewing and discussing the then existing remuneration
package of the directors of the Company; and

b.  making recommendation of new remuneration packages of the
directors and communicating to the Board.

The remuneration of directors is determined with reference to their
duties and responsibilities, market conditions and performance of
the Group. Details of emoluments of directors for the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.
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TRERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The primary
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on a regular
basis and to make recommendations to the Board the suitable
candidates for directorship after consideration of the nominees’
independence and quality in order to ensure fairness and
transparency of all nominations.

During the year of 2017 and up to the date of this Report, the
Nomination Committee comprises all independent non-executive
directors of the Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Wang Song Ling (the Chairman of the Committee)
(Appointed on 21 July 2017)

Mr. Li Jing Bo

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Appointed on 1 February 2018)

Mr. Leung Po Hon (Resigned on 9 November 2017)

Mr. Shigeki Tanaka (Resigned on 2 May 2017)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting and preformed the work included the followings:

a. reviewing the structure, size composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board;

b. reviewing the re-appointment of retiring directors for re-
election;

c.  assessing the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors; and

d. making recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
director.
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TRERBE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company'’s corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to the applicable code provisions of the CG Code
which include:

a.  todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

b.  toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the
company;

c.  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
directors of the Company; and

e. to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017, except for the
deviation disclosed previously, the Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code and was
not aware of any non-compliance to relevant applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.
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TRERBE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group at the date and of the Group’s results and cash
flows for the year then ended and are properly prepared on the
going concern basis in accordance with the statutory requirements
and accounting standards. The directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 33 to 39 of the Annual
Report 2017.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the auditor of the Company
and its subsidiaries would receive approximately HK$705,000 (2016:
HK$570,000) for audit and audit related services, and HK$60,000
(2016: HK$72,000) for other services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year of 2017, Ms. Yuen Wing Kwan (“Ms. Yuen”) was the
Company Secretary of the Company, who has complied with all the
qualifications under the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general
meeting may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company and the securities being held carrying the
right of voting at any general meetings of the Company. The
shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company
shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the
time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions to be
considered at the meeting and the general nature of the business. If
within twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of such written requisition,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such special general meeting,
the shareholder shall do so pursuant to the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act of Bermuda.

Putting enquiries to the board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business in Hong Kong and the Company Secretary shall
then forward the same to the appropriate executives of the Company
or members in the Board for further handling.

Putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.
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TRERBE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Directors meet and communicate with shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company. The Chairman proposes separate
resolutions for each issue to be considered and put each proposed
resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting results are posted on
the Company’s website on the day of the general meeting.

Our Company’s website which contains corporate information,
corporate governance practice, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars issued by the Company enables the
Company's shareholders to have timely and updated information of
the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has formulated a policy and procedures on disclosure
of inside information (the “Policy”) in accordance with Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information published by the
Securities and Futures Commission. The policy applies to all
employees of the Company. The Board will be responsible for
adopting and periodically reviewing and updating the Policy.

Moreover, the Company has employed an external consultant to
review and comment the Group's financial reporting procedures,
system and internal controls for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The consultant has provided to the Board a review report (the
“Report”) which contain recommendations to address the identified
control design and implementation effectiveness. The Board has
reviewed the Report and has made the improvement to the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

A year-end review of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its
subsidiaries risk management and internal control systems has been
conducted annually and the systems are considered to be effective
and adequate.
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Directors’ Biographies
EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Meng, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 6 November 2015. Mr. Chen has abundance
experience in corporate management, investment and capital
management. Mr. Chan is currently the General Manager of Xin Tian Di
Group lilin Investment Company Limited and Xin Tian Di Investment
Group Changchun zhi Ye Company Limited. He was the general
manager of Jilin Long Xin Asset Management Company from 2003 to
2006. Prior to that he was in charge of the Finance department of the
Changchun office of China Petroleum Shares Company Limited. He is
also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhou Chen, aged 36, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 1 February 2018. He then was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 March 2018. Mr. Zhou has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting, financial management
and corporate finance. He was the chief treasury officer of the
Company from June 2016 to January 2018, where he was in charge
of the Group’s accounting and corporate finance matters. Mr. Zhou
has been the chief financial officer of Yamada Green Resources
Limited (stock code: BJV), a company listed on the Singapore
Exchange (the “SGX") since January 2018. From October 2015 to June
2016, Mr. Zhou was the chief financial officer and the company
secretary of Asia Fashion Holdings Limited (stock code: BQl), a
company listed on the Singapore Exchange. During the period from
October 2013 to October 2015, he had been a general manager of
investment and corporate finance of Bayon Airlines Holdings Limited,
an enterprise risk manager and internal control manager of Tee
International Limited (stock code: M12), a company listed on the SGX,
and the finance manager of a Singapore private company where he
was in charge of accounting and initial public offering process.
Between 2008 and 2013, Mr. Zhou worked at Singapore local audit
firms and was responsible for, amongst others, auditing companies
incorporated in China and listed on the SGX.

Mr. Zhou is an affiliate of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) and is a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants. He also is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. He obtained an advanced diploma in
accountancy from Xiamen University in December 2016. Mr. Zhou
graduated from Oxford Brookes University in the United Kingdom
with a bachelor of science degree in applied accounting in July 2008.

Mr. Zhou is currently an independent non-executive director of a
company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), namely Wuzhou International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1369) since December 2017. He is also
a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
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EEER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Feng Mao, aged 48, was appointed as an non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 November 2015. Mr.
Li is an entrepreneur who focused on investment holding and
corporate management and has investments in various enterprises
mainly located in the Jilin province, China. The business of these
enterprises cover railroad communication & logistics, mining and
refinery, natural resources, property development, banking, and
financial leasing, etc. Mr. Li holds a Doctor of Philosophy Degree
awarded by the Jilin University of China. Mr. Li is the sole owner of
HK Guoxin Investment Group Limited, the controlling shareholder of
the Company. He is also director of several subsidiaries of the
Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Song Ling, aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 21 July 2017. Mr. Wang
was the Chairman of the Board of China Jilin Province International
Economic and Technological Cooperation Company (7 Bl & #£ &
R R 4T A /A &]) since 2004 until his retirement in 2011. Prior
to that, he was the director of China Jilin Forest Industry Group
Company (FRBIE & FZFMTEEE R 7)) and the director of China
Jilin Forest Industry Group Co., Ltd. (EMHEM T EEBEREE A R)
of that group, which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in
China and one of the four largest enterprises in the forestry industry
in China. Mr. Wang was also the general manager and the first
Chairman of Jilin Forestry Resources Development Company (& #%&
MEZRBFIZ A 7)) and Jilin Quanyangquan Drinks Company (7 #&
B R R & A 7)) respectively, and succeeded in developing the
Quanyangguan mineral water (5[5 R X 7X) for its launching.

Mr. Wang is a postgraduate from Party School of Jilin Provincial
committee (F A& Z E#), and graduated from its Economics and
Management Department (4% % & 2 % 2 & 3t Bt ) in 2004. He also
graduated from the Institute of Education in Siping City (lUF % E
Ef7) and the Agriculture and Mechanics College in Jilin Province (&
HE B EHM L2 R) respectively. He has extensive experience in
corporate planning and management.
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Directors’ Biographies
EEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Li Jing Bo, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 November 2015 and then
was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 27 November in the same year. Mr. Li has over 20 years
of experience in finance industry. Mr. Li was a manager of the
security management department of Fuyou Securities Brokerage Co,
Ltd., and he worked for Soochow Securities Co., Limited as deputy
general manager of online trading department and then became
general manager of the Shanghai branch. He acted as deputy general
manager of the human resource department of Essence Securities
Co., Limited from 2006 to 2009. In January 2010, Mr. Li was appointed
as general manager of Essence Futures Co., Limited and then has
been serving as the director of Essence International Financial
Holding Limited since April 2012.

Mr. Li Wai Kwan, aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 1 February 2018. Mr. Li
has many years of experience in finance and investment
management. He has been the chief financial officer of Zhuhai
Dahenggin Company Limited, which is principally engaged in primary
land development, since December 2013. From March 2005 to
September 2006, he worked for Esprit Holdings Limited (stock code:
330), which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
principally engaged in retail and wholesale distribution of lifestyle
products, and he served as a vice president of operational finance
and a vice president of finance in Asia Pacific region from March
2005 to July 2006 and from August 2006 to September 2006
respectively, and he was responsible for finance and operational
matters. From October 2006 to September 2010, he was a vice
president of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (stock code: 606),
which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
principally engaged in processing on agricultural products, and he
was responsible for finance and investment matters. He was a
managing director of COFCO Agricultural Investment Fund
Management Company Limited, which is principally engaged in asset
management, from September 2010 to October 2011, and he was
responsible for managing overall business and investment matters.
He was a managing director of Origo Partners Plc, whose shares are
listed on alternative investment market of the London Stock
Exchange and principal business is private equity investment, from
November 2011 to January 2013, and he was responsible for
investment matters.
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EEER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Li is an executive committee member and treasurer of the Hong
Kong — ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation since 2015 and a
committee member of Public Awareness Committee of Hong Kong
Society of Financial Analysts since 2016, a director of the board of
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada — Hong Kong
Chapter since 2017 and an honorary president (Hong Kong and
Macau) of Certified Management Accountants Australia Hong Kong
Branch since 2018. Mr. Li was a member of the general committee
and the chairman of the investor relations committee of The
Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies from 2008 to 2010. He was
appointed as an honorary vice chairman of China Enterprise
Reputation & Credibility Association (Overseas) in 2009. He was the
chairman of the partnership and promotion committee of the Hong
Kong Investor Relations Association from 2009 to 2010. He was a
member of the Organising Committee of Directors of the Year
Awards 2010 organised by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He
was a member of finance committee of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority from 2010 to 2012. Mr. Li was the guest lecturer of the
Macau University of Science and Technology in 2016.

Mr. Li graduated from University of Toronto in Canada with a
bachelor of commerce degree in November 1995. He further
obtained a master of business administration degree from York
University in Canada in November 1996.

Mr. Li was admitted as a chartered financial analyst of the
Association for Investment Management and Research in September
2001, a certified member of the Certified General Accountants
Association of Canada in October 2002 and a certified public
accountant of the HKICPA in October 2004. In addition, he was
admitted as an associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountant in
England and Wales in June 2008, a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in April 2010 and a chartered
professional accountant member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia, Canada in June 2015, a member of
Hong Kong Business Accountants Association in December 2015 and
a fellow certified management accountant of the Institute of Certified
Management Accountants in April 2016.

Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive director of three
companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely K W Nelson Interior
Design And Contracting Group Limited (stock code: 8411), Miricor
Enterprises Holdings Limited (stock code: 8358) and Enterprise
Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 1808) since November
2016, December 2016 and April 2017 respectively.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B R BENRE

RSM

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA GRAPHENE GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Graphene Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 40 to 114, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B R BENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit
matters we identified are:

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair
values of the Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2017
amounted to HK$358,400,000, representing 72% of the Group's total
assets as at that date. The fair value gains recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017
amounted to HK$110,081,000.

The Group’s investment properties are residential premises located in
Hong Kong. The fair values of the Group’s investment properties were
assessed by the management based on independent valuations
prepared by an external property valuer.

We identified valuation of the Group's investment properties as a key
audit matter because of the significance of investment properties to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant judgment and
estimation, including selecting the appropriate valuation methodology
and comparable market transactions.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties
included the following:

o Assessing the competence, capability and objectivity of the
external property valuer,

o Evaluating the valuation methodology used by the external
property valuer;

o Discussing the valuations with the external property valuer and
assessing the relevance and reasonableness of valuation
techniques and comparable market transactions used by the
valuer by comparing them with available market data.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Going Concern Assessment

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had net current liabilities of HK$144,586,000 as at 31 December 2017.
In addition, the Group had net cash outflow from operating activities
of HK$94,089,000 during the year. These conditions increased the
uncertainty about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the above, the Group’s management considered
that it was appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Management also considered
that there was not a material uncertainty in relation to going concern
based on their assessment of the Group’s cash position and
expected liquidity requirements for the foreseeable future.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment of going
concern included the following:

o We assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions adopted
by management in the preparation of the cash flow forecasts
based on the historical and latest performance of the
businesses and our knowledge of the industry.

o We discussed with management their plans to control the
Group's future operating costs and evaluated the
reasonableness of the expenses included in the cash flow
forecasts.

o We considered the impact of reasonably possible downside
changes in the assumptions underlying the cash flow forecasts
and assessed the possible mitigating actions identified by
management.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
Statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Liu Eugene.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong

29 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBEakHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
hE=s FET FH&T
Revenue Wz 8 4,446 5,442
Cost of sales SHE KA (703) (894)
Gross profit ER 3,743 4,548
Other income H A 9 10,667 7,321
Other gains and losses H Yz K G E 10 110,237 5,100
Operating and administrative expenses £84 & 1T B sz (67,973) (59,848)
Profit/(loss) from operations reesEm A (E51E) 56,674 (42,879)
Finance costs B A 12 (4,553) (1,068)
Share of losses of associates FEAGEE = R R E B (223) =
Profit/(loss) before tax BRES AR, (B58R) 51,898 (43,947)
Income tax expense FrigBif 2 13 = -
Profit/(loss) for the year FRRF,(FHE) 14 51,898 (43,947)
Other comprehensive income Hitt 2wk
Items that may be reclassified A B 7= Rm o HE -
to profit or l0ss:
Fair value changes of available-for-sale A[{tHESMEEZ
financial assets NEEZE = (200)
Reclassification of cumulative fair value HERHEESREE 2
gain attributable to disposal of 2t AFERER
available-for-sale financial assets ENOEEES
to profit or loss - (4,930)
Exchange differences on translating B INETS T EERIE R
foreign operations =% 815 (7,656)
Other comprehensive income FRHM2EKE BRBI%)
for the year, net of tax 815 (12,786)
Total comprehensive income FAZHKGHAEE
for the year 52,713 (56,733)
Profit/(loss) for the year ARARHEEAEBIEER
attributable to owners of BRI (BR)
the Company 52,713 (56,733)
Total comprehensive income AAREEAEEER
for the year attributable to 2HEHKRFHEE
owners of the Company 52,713 (56,733)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER(&E) 17
Basic B HK cents 1.84781l  HK cents (1.56) Ll
Diluted #E HK cents 1.84784ll  HK cents (1.56) L
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B IR R 3R

As at 31 December 2017 R=—Z—+t&+_-_A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NERE 18 6,700 6,630
Investment properties - 19 358,400 -
Investments in associates REERBZI8E 21 12,541 =
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFIRITFR 25 13,769 8,120
Prepayment for property, ME - BENMEE
plant and equipment TE{ IR 23 37,442 -
428,852 14,750
Current assets REEE
Inventories & 22 462 248,750
Trade and other receivables B 5 EMEUARIE 23 7,466 29,083
Financial assets at fair value through BBEREATEIEZ
profit or 10ss TRIEE 24 737 581
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 25 57,422 75,587
66,087 354,001
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables E 5 Rk HMEERIA 26 10,673 17,198
Bank borrowings RITEE 27 200,000 120,000
210,673 137,198
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE (BB BEFE (144,586) 216,803
NET ASSETS EEFE 284,266 231,553
Capital and reserves PR R
Share capital f& A 29 140,955 140,955
Reserves EfE 31 143,311 90,598
TOTAL EQUITY HBRER 284,266 231,553

Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2018 and are sighed BREEEER_-_Z—N\E=A-+NB8E I

on its behalf by: AT EERERESE
Chen Meng Zhou Chen

BRIZ 5=

Director Director

Ed EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

Foreign
Capital  currency
Share Share redemption translation Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve profits equity
A& s
BA  RHEE BERE EiRE REEF BEs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL AL TEL TAL AL THL
At 1 January 2016 140,955 26,770 121 = 115,310 288,286
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (7,656) (43,947) (56,733)
At 31 December 2016
140,955 26,770 127 (7.656) 71,363 231,553
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+%-A-H 140,955 26,770 121 (7,656) 71,363 231,553
Total comprehensive income &
for the year - - - 815 51,898 52,713
At 31 December 2017
140,955 26,770 121 (6,841) 123,261 284,266
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FAET
cash flows from operating activities REXBBRESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax BE AR A (EER) 51,898 (43,947)
Adjustments for: BT
Deficit/(surplus) on revaluation of buildings BFEGEL (BB 18 4 @)
Amortisation of leasehold land A& - b 2 g 18 12 12
Depreciation of property, VI~ BB R EREITE
plant and equipment 14 2,029 1,164
Fair value gain on investment properties REMENTFEK = 19 (110,081) =
Interest income A EHA 9 (1) Q)
Finance costs B E A 12 4,553 1,068
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value  #3@18351R A FEFI R
through profit or loss TREEAFERES 10 (156) (48)
Net foreign exchange gain GINEFE 3 Uk 25 5 58 (1) (816)
Allowance for trade receivables B 5 FE W RS 23 191 -
Allowance for inventories FERE 14 149 -
Share of losses of associates FE(REsE = A A ES 1R 21 223 =
Gain on disposals of property, LEE - BEKR
plant and equipment B 14 - (121)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEESREEZ
financial assets g 10 - (4,930)
Operating loss before working capital changes 428 &4 2B KL 18 ¢ (51,180) (47,620)
Increase in inventories FEIN (180) (3,939)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BiBREBTEAFEINEZ
through profit or loss TRIE E R = 15
(Increase)/decrease in trade and g 5 &M W ARIE
other receivables (=), wmd (36,442) 14,971
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 N EMEMIRIE
other payables R A,/ (6,287) 11,581
Cash used in operations REMAZRE (94,089) (24,992)
Income tax paid B PTEE - -
Net cash used in operating activities REEBFEAZBRSTHE (94,089) (24,992)
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE FHET T
Cash flows from investing activities BETHRERERE
Purchases of property, BAYE - BE&&E
plant and equipment (2,301) (3,793)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYE  BER&E
plant and equipment Fr5 508 = 121
Proceeds from disposals of available-for- HEAHHECREE
sale financial assets Fr18 5008 = 6,300
Refund of/(payment for) escrow money BE/(XM)EES 20,844 (20,351)
Investments in associates REEFE R R 2R E (12,764) =
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI/ TR K80 (5,649) (8,120)
Interest received =& IES) 1 1
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETERE(FTA)
investing activities ZE& 5 131 (25,842)
cash flows from financing activities REETBHMERERE
Borrowings raised BEEFBRIA 80,000 120,000
Interest paid ERFIE (4,389) (919)
Net cash generated from RETEFEEZ
financing activities REFHE 75,611 119,081
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%{“% 2
cash equivalents WD), nE R (18,347) 68,247
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes T“ > = 182 (3,678)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January E’é B—HZzERE&ER
HEZEEY 75,587 11,018
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December A+ =A=+—H=2
BHENAESEZEY 25 57,422 75,587
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Graphene Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The address of
its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place of
business is Rooms 1904-1916,19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company's shares
are listed on the Main Board of the The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, HK Guoxin
Investment Group Limited (“HK Guoxin”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong, is the immediate parent and Mr. Li
Feng Mao, the sole beneficial owner of HK Guoxin and the
director of the Company, is the ultimate controlling party of the
Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). HKFRSs
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”);
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Going concern basis

The Group had net current liabilities of HK$144,586,000 as at 31
December 2017 and had net cash outflow from operating
activities of HK$94,089,000 during the year. Notwithstanding
this fact, the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis as
the Group is expected to have sufficient financial resources to
meet its obligation as they fall due for at least the next twelve
months based on its projected cash flow forecasts. The
Group’s management has reviewed the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2017, including its working capital
and bank and cash balances, together with the projected cash
flow forecasts for the next twelve months and the Directors
consider that the Group is financially viable to continue as a
going concern.

In addition, the Group can also improve its financial position,
immediate liquidity and cash flows, by adopting the following
measures:

(@ the Directors will take action to reduce costs;
(b)  the management will obtain/renew bank borrowings; and

(c) the Directors will consider to sell certain investment
properties if necessary.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group's assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
as current assets. The effects of these potential adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised

HKFRSs that are first effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2017. None of these impact on the
accounting policies of the Group. However, the
Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows:
Disclosure Initiative require disclosure of changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
The effect of the amendments on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements has been the inclusion of additional
disclosures in note 32.

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSS
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2017. These new and
revised HKFRSs include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning on
or after

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

1 January 2018

Amendments to HKAS 40 Investment Property:
Transfers of investment property

1 January 2018

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

1 January 2018

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments

1 January 2019
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

48

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far
the Group has identified some aspects of the new
standards which may have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements. Further details of the
expected impacts are discussed below. While the
assessment has been substantially completed for HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 15, the actual impacts upon the initial adoption
of the standards may differ as the assessment completed
to date is based on the information currently available to
the Group, and further impacts may be identified before
the standards are initially applied in the Group’s interim
financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2018. The
Group may also change its accounting policy elections,
including the transition options, until the standards are
initially applied in that interim financial report.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement of
financial assets, new rules for hedge accounting and a new
impairment model for financial assets.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 on a retrospective basis. The Group
plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective
date and will not restate comparative information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Based on an analysis of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017 on the basis of
the facts and circumstances that exist at that date, the
Directors of the Company have assessed the impact of
HKFRS 9 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements
as follows:

@

®)

(©

Classification and measurement

The Group currently measures its listed equity securities
at fair value and other financial assets at amortised
cost, there will be no impact to the classification and
measurement under HKFRS 9.

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise and measure
either a 12-monthexpected credit loss or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on the asset and the
facts and circumstances. The Group expects that the
application of the expected credit loss model will result
in earlier recognition of credit losses. Based on a
preliminary assessment, if the Group were to adopt the
new impairment requirements at 31 December 2017,
there will be no significant impact on the accumulated
impairment loss at that date as compared with that
recognised under HKAS 39.

Hedge accounting

HKFRS 9 does not fundamentally change the
requirements relating to measuring and recognising
ineffectiveness under HKAS 39. However, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of
transactions eligible for hedge accounting. As the Group
does not have any hedging arrangement, there will be
no impact to the consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue from contracts with customers. HKFRS
15 will replace the existing revenue standards, HKAS 18,
Revenue, which covers revenue arising from sale of goods
and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Construction
contracts, which specifies the accounting for revenue from
construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018. The standard permits either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption. The Group intends to adopt the standard using
the modified retrospective approach which means that the
cumulative impact of the adoption will be recognised in
retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 and that
comparatives will not be restated.

Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group
has identified the following areas which are expected to be
affected:

(@ Timing of revenue recognition
Currently, revenue arising from sale of goods is
generally recognised when the risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the customers and service
income is recognised when the relevant services
rendered.

China Graphene Group Limited « FEEREEERAF

RN R] KRBT B RMBRE
2R (%)

(b) B M8 {B 14 R 4 R0z 1 5T R AR B ET

BEMBREER (K])
BEBUBREEREISHREEFZE
Az

BN B REERFE 5T —EHER
KEEFPANWENGRAIER - BEM
B s A L5 S AS AV IR A Y as Al
(BN E B ST ERE 185 s - 2R
EAHEREmMEHRBEE SO
ARERBGTERNE1REESLN B
REIARES NS S RIE) °

BEMHEREENE1SR/N_F—\F
—A—BRZ RN ERRE LR
ZEABTFFAZEEN D AHLEBTZ
EBHT AR - REERAGERT 28
BHARANZER - RPN Rt 28
BRBE2E_F—/\F—A-BNREA
MR - W ES T EEIILRET -

RIFESERKZFE - AEECHES

TIEHERATE &

@) W BT
BAT - S0 T AR A 2 M — R
PR RE R TR
R TARH A AR SR R B AR
i -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(continued)

(@) Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or
service in the contract. HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations
in which control of the promised good or service is
regarded as being transferred over time:

(@ When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(b) When the entity’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that the
customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced;

(c) When the entity’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the entity and the
entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not
fall into any of these three situations, then under HKFRS
15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that
good or service at a single point in time, being when
control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership is only one of the indicators that will be
considered in determining when the transfer of control
occurs.

The Group has assessed that the new revenue standard
is not likely to have significant impact on how it
recognises revenue from sale of goods and provision of
service.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related
interpretations. The new standard introduces a single
accounting model for lessees. For lessees the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed and
lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16
carries forward the accounting requirements for lessors in
HKAS 17 substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore
continue to classify leases as operating or financing leases.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply the
simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the standard will affect
primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
The Group's office property leases are currently classified
as operating leases and the lease payments (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under
HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a
liability at the present value of the future minimum lease
payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset
for these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability
and depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be
recognised in profit or loss. The Group's assets and
liabilities will increase and the timing of expense
recognition will also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 35, the Group's future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases for its
office properties amounted to HK$4,589,000 as at 31
December 2017. These leases are expected to be
recognised as lease liabilities, with corresponding right-of-
use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The amounts will be
adjusted for the effects of discounting and the transition
reliefs available to the Group.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)
HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments
The interpretation of HKAS 12 Income Taxes sets out how
to apply that standard when there is uncertainty about
income tax treatments. Entities are required to determine
whether uncertain tax treatments should be assessed
separately or as a group depending on which approach will
better predict the resolution of the uncertainties. Entities
will have to assess whether it is probable that a tax
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. If yes, the
accounting treatment will be consistent with the entity’s
income tax filings. If not, however, entities are required to
account for the effects of the uncertainty using either the
most likely outcome or expected value method depending
on which method is expected to better predict its
resolution.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of the
interpretation on the consolidated financial statements until
a more detailed assessment has been completed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. investment
properties and certain financial instruments that are measured
at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company's share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).

(b) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but
is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group'’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S B I R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Associates (continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group’s entire carrying amount of that
associate (including goodwill) and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not

remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKD"), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or 10ss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

4. FESFHE(H)
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S B I R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group

58

entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company'’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold land
(classified as finance leases), held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially
from those that would be determined using fair values at
the end of each reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such
land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in properties revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease
for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in
which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the
extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in
the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land
and buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset.

Depreciation of revalued buildings is recognised in profit or
loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in
the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. TESFBEEE)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (d) % - BERNRE (&)

60

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

M BB M fﬁuﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘f
i A EHIR B AMUEE R AR Z L Rt 8
WeE - TEFRMOT ¢

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease THE T R FH
Buildings Over their estimated useful lives g5 BEAAE A A
of 40 years FHIA0F
Leasehold Improvements Over the lease terms HERE LA FH
Furniture, equipment 2to 5 years Bl BERRE  2ESF

and motor vehicles

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

(e) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment
property is measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment property are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

If an inventory becomes an investment property, any
resulting difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in
profit or oss.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-Z
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

—tEF+-A=+—BLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFBE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Leases f) HE
The Group as lessee KEBERAEA
() Operating leases () AL
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all BEAEZFTARR &@#&ﬂif’%{
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are FEREREBE HE 3 AKEHR
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net o HERE(HKRA ﬁ BAUWE

of any incentives received from the lessor) are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised on the straight-line basis over
the remaining term of the lease.

EER) RN EBAARNNERERRR
P °

AN L E IR AR - Hi&
RER T HEIANAB SR EH -

The Group as lessor AEEESHBA
() Operating leases () #ETHL
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees BEMAEZMERKBEERAETEL

all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

(g) Inventories
() Horticultural plants

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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S B I R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Inventories (continued)
(i) Properties under development and held for sale

Properties under development and held for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs include acquisition costs, prepaid land lease
payments, construction costs, borrowing costs
capitalised and other direct costs attributable to such
properties. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.

On completion, the properties are reclassified to

properties held for sale at the carrying amount.

(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is

recognised in profit or l0ss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of a financial
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of
the financial assets within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
either financial assets classified as held for trading or
designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon
initial recognition. These financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of these financial
assets are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These assets are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
(except for short-term receivables where interest is
immaterial) minus any reduction for impairment or
uncollectibility. Typically trade and other receivables,
bank balances and cash are classified in this category.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

64

(i) Financial assets (continued)

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are not classified as loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-
sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of these investments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve, until the investments
are disposed of or there is objective evidence that the
investments are impaired, at which time the cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to
profit or loss. Interest calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on available-for-sale
equity investments are recognised in profit or 10ss.

(j) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(m) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
Stated at cost.

(o) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(p) Revenue Recoghition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is
probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of revenue can be measured reliability.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised on the
transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered and the title has passed to the customers.

Service income is recognised as services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(g) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries registered in
Japan are members of the pension scheme operated by
the Japan local government. The subsidiaries in Japan
are required to contribute certain pre-fixed amounts of
contribution, according to the level of income for each
employee to the pension scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group in respect of the
pension scheme is the required contributions under the
pension scheme.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

(r) Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 10ss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. FESFHE(H)

(s) Taxation (s) BiE

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

68

(CONTINUED)

(s) Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale. If
the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an
expense through the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to its estimated recoverable amount unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being
measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

70

(CONTINUED)

(u) Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether its financial assets (other than those at fair value
through profit or loss) are impaired, based on objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated future
cash flows of the (group of) financial asset(s) have been
affected.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually, the Group assesses them collectively for
impairment, based on the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the delayed payments
in the portfolio, observable changes in economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly
reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the
amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent
period and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed (either
directly or by adjusting the allowance account for trade
receivables) through profit or loss. However, the reversal
must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the
amortised cost of the financial asset would have been had
the impairment not been recognised at the date the
impairment is reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(w) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in
the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

5.

72

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgments that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon certain measures taken by the Directors to
improve the Group’s financial position, immediate liquidity,
cash flows, profitability and operations as explained in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are not held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
determining the Group’s deferred tax for investment
properties, the Directors have adopted the presumption
that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will
revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets

that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2017 was HK$6,700,000 (2016:

HK$6,630,000).

(b) Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates. The Directors
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the
method of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the

current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31

December 2017 was HK$358,400,000 (2016: Nil).

(c) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts, in particular of a loss event, requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of the trade and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such

estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2017, accumulated impairment losses
for bad and doubtful debts amounted to HK$191,000 (2016:

Nil).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d) Income tax

74

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The
management evaluates tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for tax losses not yet used and temporary
deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets can
only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the
unused tax credits can be utilised, the management’s
judgment is required to assess the probability of future
taxable profits. Management's assessment is constantly
reviewed and deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2017, no
provisions for current tax and deferred tax were made
(2016: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group'’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
Group entities, including HKD and Japanese Yen (“JPY"). The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in equity securities. The Directors of the
Company monitor the price risk and will consider other
necessary actions when significant price risks is
anticipated. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock
Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower (2016: 5% higher/
lower), profit after tax for the year ended 31 December
2017 would increase/decrease by HK$31,000 (2016:
increase/decrease by HK$24,000). This is mainly due to the
changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables and other receivables. In order to minimise
credit risk, the Directors have delegated a team to be
responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures. In addition, the
Directors review the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt regularly to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

6.
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e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HBEMERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REE SRS (E)
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted REBIIETESFABIRE L ARITHNE
cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities SmEET BB SITHAT
is as follows:

Less than Between Between

1 year or 1and 2 2and5 Over

on demand years years 5 years Total
DPR—F
RRER —EWF MELE EENE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TET TET TR

At 31 December 2017 R-E—tF

+=A=+-8
Bank borrowings (note) RITEE (i) 204,478 - - - 204,478
Trade and other payables B o RAMEMIRIE 10,432 - - - 10,432
At 31 December 2016 RZZ—RF

+=A=+—H
Borrowings (note) BE (M) 125,283 - - - 125,283
Trade and other payables B o REMEMIRE 17,076 = = = 17,076
Note: BisE
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the ‘on MEREREBEXZRITEEFALMEHA S
demand or less than 1 year' time band in the above maturity analysis. As at M HRERI DR —F | HE - R=FT—tF+=A
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the aggregate undiscounted =t+—BE=ZZE-—R"F+ZA=+—8 " ZEFRT
principal amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$80,000,000 BE KRB AN E 258 5 5l 480,000,000% 7T &
and HK$120,000,000 respectively. Taking into account the Group's financial 120,000,000 7T - ZEEARE B 2 BB - TF
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will BRBITRBETERIBRERRAEER - EEH
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The £ BERTEESRBERBEMENEEER
Directors believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid one year after the HERBREMRE—FEE - BN F2RERF
end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment BRI H #%4382,576,000 4 TT °

dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$82,576,000.
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e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(e) Interest rate risk

6. MEEBREE (&)

(OFES:N

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the
Group's HKD denominated borrowing.

At 31 December 2017, if interest rates had been 100 basis
points lower with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit for the year would have been
HK$2,000,000 (2016: HK$1,200,000) higher, arising mainly as
a result of lower interest expense on bank borrowings. If
interest rates had been 100 basis points higher, with all
other variables held constant, consolidated profit for the
year would have been HK$2,000,000 (2016: HK$1,200,000)
lower, arising mainly as a result of higher interest expense
on bank borrowings.

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31

(f)

AEERERENEEREERKHRA
SBUAABTHEREMEEZBBRT
FRIZEHFEAKE °

W-ZE—+&E+-A=+—8 " HF=X
TRR100 @ E 2w E b AT 7] & A =4
BAE BF REE @GSN
2,000,000 7t ( — = — 7 4 : 1,200,000
BIr) 0 EZREPNRITEER SRR
Do fHFIR EF100EEZMEMATA
AERXEFETE  AFREAEFE
B 4 #92,000,000% JL( = F — /N F ¢
1,200,000 7T) * EBRANRITEEF
BRZEM -

R-ZB—tH+=-A=+t—-HZE

December 2017 T B3R
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT F&T
Financial assets: SREE !
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABRZ
profit or 10ss: TREE
Equity securities A& A3 5 737 581
Loans and receivables (including cash and B M EWERTE (B 15
cash equivalents) ReMREEEY) 76,231 110,212
Financial liabilities: cEMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HBER AR 2 eRAE 210,432 137,076

(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their respective
fair values.

(g) A&

RERB MM RAIRBRZ AR B S/
BEFTRABEZRABEERETAZ
NFERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

7.

78

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value
hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to
valuation technigues used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

7. AVERE(H)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @QR=-ZFB—tEFE+=-_A=+—H2Z22
December 2017: FEEBRKFEHE :
Fair value measurements using: Total
DALEFTERAZER et
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017
1EE E— -t F=HK —B—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET THET TERT
Recurring fair value REMALHEHETE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value EBRBHERATEIE
through profit or loss ZEMEE
— Listed equity securities — ETRAES 737 - - 737
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BERZE
Building held for own use BIEERAZET
— Hong Kong — & - - 90 90
Investment properties REME
Residential units — Hong Kong EEEN —BE - 358,400 - 358,400
Total M3t 737 358,400 90 359,227
Fair value measurements using: Total
NEEFERBZER st
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2016
HE E—R FER F=H ZT—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT THAT TET
Recurring fair value REMATETE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value EBRBREATENRZ
through profit or loss CREE
— Listed equity securities — LTRAES 581 - - 581
Property, plant and equipment ¥¥% - BERRE
Building held for own use BEERZET
— Hong Kong — &5 = = 97 97
Total Mat 581 — 97 678
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e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.
(CONTINUED)

AFEE ()

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value bD)BREE=RRATHEFEZESEY

based on level 3:

B :

2017 2016

—2-t% —T-RE

Buildings held Buildings held

forownuse- forownuse-

Hong Kong Hong Kong

B FHE

Description BRAZET- BRAZET-
1BH i B
HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FAT

At 1 January R—A—H 97 99

Depreciation charge for the year FEREER (3) @)
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation () Eifh (B4 /Rt #) (4) 1
At 31 December W+=-RA=1+—H 90 97

(# Include gains or losses for assets held at end of #EERRERRBREEZBE

reporting period (4) 1

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting period
are presented in other gains and losses in the consolidated

RBERRERSTRABZAE AR
(BREFBEEZAE) ITRGFAER

80

statement of profit or loss.
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e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the )R =
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 31

December 2017:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for

B_tE+=H=+-F &
REER S GEERNEATE
B R R {5 B 55 B A B 2 R

ZIKE B BREaERM B REETH
FHNEENABZATERE  BES

financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value =HWAFEFE WKREEERNES

measurements. The financial controller reports directly to

Aliiﬁﬁt%’&?fﬁ?rg o Eﬁi‘%%@%ﬁﬁi

the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements. TegFRLETAGERRFE
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held ZatE o

between the financial controller and the Board of Directors

at least once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will ME=ZRAFEFEMS » AEEBR

normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent

experience to perform the valuations.

FIRFEARERAIEXER RRIIET
HELRZIMBHEEZRR

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value E=HATEFEREAZEERAE

measurements are mainly:

— Cost of construction

Cost per square feet to completion was estimated
based on the type of building structure and taking into
account market data on current construction costs for

similar properties.

— Estimated depreciation

Deducting all sources of depreciation by straight-line
method over the estimated useful life, including
physical deterioration and functional and economic

RBABBEER

— BEAL
EERDIRAR L RIR MR RV B R
Wat KA ZERAN T HBIRGT
E’]‘!‘SPE/<7;W5Z$

— GAHNE
AEH T ERAERES B TERTA
ERFHANIRERRNTE - B
BEEIEREMINIEREBRE - Wi

obsolescence and adjusting by the physical condition of EBFEEBARAmMEL FHE -
the building.
Level 2 fair value measurements Fair value
E-RAVHEFTE ~NHE
2017 2016
—E—+F “E—RF
Description Valuation technique Inputs HK$'000 HK$'000
1HH HERE i A SR TET FHT
Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
&E afE BE =4
Residential units located in Direct comparison Comparable
Hong Kong approach sales
transaction
NN ES 2 FEEN EELEE AR E
R5
Capitalised
net rental
income 358,400 - - -
RNk
NS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. AVEEGE)

82

(CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 31

December 2017: (Continued) Z (&)

Level 3 fair value measurements
F=R/ATFEFTE

COR=ZFE—tF+=ZA=+—
SEFRAZHERFURAFES
EfMFRAAELSEREBA ol

H ’

2 3

i

Fair value
AYE
Effect on fair
value for
Valuation increase of 2017 2016
Description technique Unobservable inputs inputs —E—tF ZERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET
EIN 6
i)
R HERE NAEEHAHE NPEzE%  Assets Liabilities  Assets  Liabilities
EE 8 BE =0
Building held for Based on net Cost of construction of Increase
own use replacement HK$1,294 (2016: HK$1,036)
— Hong Kong CoSt per square feet
FEERZET FEERANE  BERARESTAR194ET Em
— &% (ZZ—RF 1 1,03687T)
Estimated depreciation over Decrease 90 - 97 =

the useful life of 58 years
(2016: 58 years)
AT AEE 58 B
(ZZ2—7NF : 585
et E

During the two years, there were no changes in the

valuation technigues used.

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

8. W&

MERAGERALEZE

FARKERSEZAMAT -

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Provision of property management services KB REYEE IR 2 W 201 121
Sale of plants and provision of horticultural KB HEEEY MR HBE R

services Z W 4,122 4,830

Loan interest income B R BHA 60 491

Sale of graphene AERGHEE 63 -

4,446 5,442
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e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfA

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET F&TT
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRF B WA 1 1

Dividends income from equity IR E TS 2 I E WA
investments 26 27
Rental income Hae WA 10,126 6,953
Others H1th 514 340
10,667 7,321

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 10. EttRE R EE

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT

Gain on disposals of available-for-sale HEHHESHEEY
financial assets g - 4,930

Gain on disposals of property, HEYE - BE&EE 2 WS

plant and equipment - 121
Surplus on revaluation of buildings BFEGHAK - 1
Fair value gain on investment properties "EYE 2 A EKE 110,081 -

Fair value gain on financial assets at FRBREATEYRZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEZ A ERE 156 48
110,237 5,100
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &HZE_—-F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

84

The Group has seven operating segments as follows:

Property development develops and sells properties

Property investment engages in leasing out residential

properties

Money lending — provides loan financing to
corporate entities and
individuals

Horticultural services — provides horticultural services

Graphene — manufactures and sells

manufacturing
and sales

graphene and graphene-
related products

Property management
and other related
services

provides building management
services

Securities trading

engages in trading of securities

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include
unallocated administrative expenses, share of losses of
associates, other income, other gains and losses, finance costs
and income tax expense. Segment assets do not include
pledged bank deposits, interests in associates and unallocated
corporate assets. Segment liabilities do not include bank
borrowings and unallocated corporate liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if

the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current
market prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about operating segment profit or

loss, assets and liabilities

1. 2HEHR (&)

FRgE s RiER - BERBEZEN

Property
management
Graphene and other
Property Property Money  Horticultural manufacturing related Securities
development investment lending services and sales services trading Total
RER NEEER
NERR NERE & HBRS EERSE  EtREEE BERS @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TERL ThT THET THT T T TERL
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE=E—+4£
+=A=1-H
IL5E
Revenue from external REINER 2 ki
customers = = 60 4122 63 201 = 4,446
Intersegment revenue SRRk - - - 121 - - - 121
Segment profit/(loss) HEEH/(B8) (20,012) 110,081 60 (1,960) (16,881) 184 156 71,628
Depreciation wE - - - - 945 - - 945
Additions to segment RENBERDEE
non-current assets - - - - 2,275 - - 2,275
As at 31 December 2017 RZZ—t%
+-A=1-H
Segment assets NEEE 9,031 358,400 - 2,584 62,526 876 737 434,154
Segment liabilities ARER 4,745 = = 527 2,055 43 - 7,310
Property
management
Sale and and other
Property Money  Horticultural manufacturing related Securities
development lending services  of graphene services trading Total
HER  WEEER
MEER HE REfRp  4AELEGH HMBERS FHZH it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAT FHT THT TAT FHT THT
Year ended 31 December 2016 (2T ~§T-A=1-H
IEFE
Revenue from external customers REHNEP 2 WE - 491 4,830 - 121 - 5,442
Intersegment revenue PERKE - - 80 - - - 80
Segment profit/(0ss) PEEF/ (BR) (23,526) 9 (2,025) (5,581) 95 48 (30,498)
Depreciation e - - - 122 - - 122
Additions to segment non-current assets  RE A EIERB A E = - - 3,075 - - 3,075
As at 31 December 2016 RZZ-R"E+ZA=+-H
Segment assets PREE 251,554 2,344 229 49,548 873 581 307,196
Segment liabilities AR 5,163 - 197 1,059 27 - 6,446
Annual Report 2017 « —Z—tHFH 85



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2 EER (&)
Reconciliations of segment revenue and profit or T RER ZYHERE
loss
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Revenue LBI?:‘E
Total revenue of reportable segments R o4 7 U s 4,567 5,522
Elimination of intersegment revenue %Eﬁﬁéj R (121) (80)
Consolidated revenue e W 4,446 5,442
Profit or loss B
Total profit or loss of reportable segments mENfE Bz 71,628 (30,498)
Elimination of intersegment profits 15§85 5 %8 R s A (121) (80)
Share of losses of associates FEAL B & A PR 18 (223) =
Unallocated amounts: AN R
— Depreciation of property, plant and — Y- ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ‘zﬁ%
equipment (1,096) (1,176)
— Finance costs — BB RN (4,553) (1,068)
- Other gains and losses — Eftnles RSB 612 5,299
— Unallocated corporate expenses — RO ARIRX (14,349) (16,424)
Consolidated profit/(loss) before tax BRE RGBT (EB) 51,898 (43,947)
Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities PTEEEREEZHE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments REDIE 7 B E 434,154 307,196
Investments in associates #Hﬁ%%@ AZIRE 12,541 -
Unallocated: P v2)
— Pledged bank deposits — E%ﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ 13,769 8,120
— Cash and cash equivalents —HRekBEeEEY 31,185 47,145
- Other assets — BEtmEE 3,290 6,290
Consolidated total assets IREBAEBE 494,939 368,751
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e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. 2HEHR (&)

Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities PTEEEREBZYHIE(E)
(continued)
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Liabilities =L
Total liabilities of reportable segments REDBEZREE 7,370 6,446
Unallocated: KRB :
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 200,000 120,000
— Other liabilities — EmmEE 3,303 10,752
Consolidated total liabilities e BEERE 210,673 137,198

BrLatESN - DEERBEZHMEKNIRA
TR S AR -

Apart from the above, the totals of other material items
disclosed in the segment information are the same as the
consolidated totals.

EEF
B E TS 5 2 AERBEHINEF U K
REEMEME D 2 IEREE E 2 & FHFFal

Geographical information:
The Group's revenue from external customers by location of
operations and information about its non-current assets by

location of assets are detailed below: (NN
Revenue Non-current assets
U &= FREEE
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E2—+tF —T-RF ZEB—+tF ==K F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT F&ET FHIT
Hong Kong B 4,383 5,442 361,326 4,000
Japan H 7 63 - 41,216 2,630
Consolidated total AT 4,446 5,442 402,542 6,630
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-Z

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

12.

13.

88

—tEF+-A=+—BLFEE

FINANCE COSTS 12. BE R AR
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEER S 4,553 1,068
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FIBHHAX

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements since the Group has sufficient tax losses
brought forward to set off against current year’'s assessable
profit.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

HRASEE 2 AR HIAEEEAREAFE
ZERTOG N - A BRI MR IRE A
ST -

HthBR 2 ERBUEH 2 HABAERAE
i“%%%*ﬁﬁ&l%ziiﬂm  RARIEE 3
ZBITED - 2BNEPIFE

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the SRR BEBR B AR M R A BB RS
product of profit before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits 121%55\%@"? :
Tax is as follows:
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF ZE—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Profit/(loss) before tax BREATEF(EBE) 51,898 (43,947)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of R AN H FTS 51 2R 16.5%
16.5% (2016:16.5%) (ZE—RF 1 16.5%)
HE 2 BIE 8,563 (7,257)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible TT?D/WEEJQZ@M“%; 3,870 203
Tax effect of income that is not taxable JEERFHIMA 2 FRIE & (18,163) (839)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised K HFE:R z;&@ BRiEERY
b -7 8,496 8,665
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses Bl LE?EEEE ZIRIEEBE
not previously recognised g2 (12) (€)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERL R EENRE &
not recognised 161 46
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries MBRRMEER 228 (2,915) (821)

Income tax expense

PRSI
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

14.

15.

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

The Group's profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

14. FRER,(EE)

THIESBERINE

ARE 2 FREF,(BR) &IN%,/GtA)

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amortisation of leasehold land THE L b g 12 12
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #72 - k&= BB EITE 2,029 1,164
Gain on disposals of property, LEME -  BEREZEZ
plant and equipment Wzs = 121
Fair value gain on investment properties WEYHE 2 AN FEKR (110,081) =
Operating lease charges RO
— Land and buildings — T RETF 5,773 4,564
Research and development expenditure s 147 —
Auditor's remuneration % B B 25 B
— Current — BNHEf 705 570
— Under-provision in prior year — FFERETR 250 -
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKRAR 703 894
Allowance for inventories GFERE
(included in cost of sales) (BT ASEERAR) 149 119
Allowance for trade receivables B SRR 191 -
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EERAAX
2017 2016
—E—+tHF AN S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Employee benefits expense: EERAMY
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e AN =3: 1 18,320 12,007
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREFIFT SR 819 418
19,139 12,425
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

90

(CONTINUED)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included three (2016: four) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in note 16. The emoluments
of the remaining two (2016: one) individuals are set out below:

15.

BEEANRA< (&)

TEBREHFMAL
FA - ARBREESFHALTEE=R(=
TE-REF OREF EMeCRMIE16
EHNZOMHRER - R TIMAR(ZT—REF -

—B)ALZMEEIIWT

2017 2016

—2—t& "—TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT T

Basic salaries and allowances HAREr & MoEAL 3,801 1,002
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFI B X 132 19
3,933 1,021

The emoluments fell within the following band:

M FATEE

Number of individuals

AR
2017 2016
—§ tF -—T 57
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,00078 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7T = 1,500,000 7 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,500,001 78 7T & 3,000,000 % 7T 1 =
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EE2 Az KR

() ESZM=
BEZZHHHIIWT

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of every director is set out below:

Retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions Total
we  HEREH B BAGHEER fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn ThEn TEn ThERL
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Chen Meng [F33 - 3,000 - 18 3,018
Mak Tin Sang (i) BRAE() - 1,180 - 7 1,187
Yuan Li Min, Chief Executive Officer (i) FAR  THEH ) - 8,000 - 18 8,018
- 12,180 - 43 12,223
Non-executive director: FunES:
Li Feng Mao, Chairman TER IR - 10,000 - 18 10,018
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHnES:
Leung Po Hon i 2EE (i) 344 - - - 344
LiingBo ZER 360 - - - 360
Shigeki Tanaka (v) R () 122 - - - 122
Wang Song Ling (v) FRIR) 161 - - - 161
987 10,000 - 18 11,005
Total for 2017 B EEY 987 22,180 - 61 23,228
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

16. EE 2 M@K ()

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) EVEET L EAC )
Retirement
Salariesand  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances honuses  contributions Total
we  HekEm BEEA  RIGHEIER At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THL THL THL THL
Executive directors: YTES.
Chen Meng Bz - 3000 - 18 3018
Mak Tin Sang BRE - 3,000 - 18 3018
Yuan Li Min, Chief Executive Officer RYR  {THEH - 8,000 - 18 8,018
- 14,000 - 54 14,054
Non-executive director: FUTEE:
Li Feng Mao, Chairman TEK IR - 10,000 - 18 10018
Independent non-executive directors:; BUFHTES:
Leung Po Hon PEE 400 - - - 400
LiJing Bo 2R 360 - - - 360
Shigeki Tanaka itk 360 - = = 30
1,120 10,000 = 18 11,138
Total for 2016 ZE-REEG 1120 24,000 - 72 25,192

None of the Directors waived any remuneration during the
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no
emoluments have been paid to the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil).
Notes: (i) Mr. Mak Tin Sang resigned on 16 May 2017.

(i) Mr. Yuan Li Min resigned on 16 January 2018.

(iiiy Mr. Leung Po Hon resigned on 9 November 2017.

(iv) Mr. Shigeki Tanaka resigned on 2 May 2017.

(v) Mr. Wang Song Ling was appointed on 21 July 2017.
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e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EE vz K= ()
(CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, DESERRE  RELEHNPZEKX
arrangements or contracts s
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in ARREENEEFFESRERRER
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was HF AT EFEAERRRIERRTH
a party and in which a director of the Company and the 7 BRAEEEBERCLEARS
director’s connected party had a material interest, whether THRENThEEBE NER (TwmEE
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at %) °

any time during the year.

17. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 17. BREBF,(FHE)

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share () BREXER(FHE)
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based GREARRZRN(EE) IBREERNAA
on the profit attributable to the owners of the Company of TR AEMR 51,898,000 L (==
HK$51,898,000 (2016: loss of HK$43,947,000) and the — N 1 43,947,000 TR ) K E BT
weighted average number of approximately 2,819,102,000 3 A% 2 D0 RE S 15 8149 2,819,102,000 A%
(2016: 2,819,102,000) ordinary shares in issue during the — T4 1 2,819,102,000 §% ) i 15 &t
year. o .

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b)EREBRER (&HE)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the year ended 31 HE_ZT—+tE&ERER-_FT— X Ft+=-H
December 2017 and 2016 were same as the basic earnings/ =+ RHIEFESRESRT (&EB)
(I0ss) per share. HEREARAT(EER)HER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. W% - MERRME

Interests in
leasehold
land held
for own Buildings
use under  held for own Furniture
finance  use carried and Leasehold Motor
leases at fair value equipment improvements Vehicles Total
REERE
BNEEE NATE
BHEELH SRz H1E
LER BRET BRERE RE£E RE agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THL T AL THL
Cost or valuation: RAREE
At 1 January 2016 RZZ—RE
—A—H 600 99 149 1,172 2,097 5387
Additions AE - - 718 - 3,075 3,793
Disposals HE = = = - (260) (260)
Surplus on revaluation ERR% - 1 - - - 1
Exchange differences R = = = - (324) (324)
Elimination of ZRTEHH
accumulated
depreciation - %) - - - 3
At31December 2016and ~ RZE—AE
1 January 2017 +-A=+-Bk
I 3
—A—H 600 97 2,137 1,172 4,588 8,594
Additions NE - - 278 2,023 - 2,301
Disposals HE - - (237) - - (237)
Deficit on revaluation EbE4 = (4) - - - (4)
Exchange differences ERER = - (1) (4) - (5)
Elimination of RENEHH
accumulated
depreciation - (3) - - - 3)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+&
T-A=1+-H 600 90 2177 3191 4,588 10,646
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - BERRZE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Interests in
leasehold
land held
for own Buildings
use under held for own Furniture
finance use carried and Leasehold Motor
leases  at fair value equipment improvements Vehicles Total
RRERE
BNEEE NATE
REgLH Sl 2 51k
s BREF BRERE HE#E RE EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL AL AL TET THL
Accumulated RitERESE
depreciation
and amortization;
At 1 January 2016 i S
—A-H 243 = 244 = 565 1,052
Charge for the year FEEXH 12 3 341 391 129 1,176
Disposals HE - - - - (260) (260)
Exchange differences EREH = = = = (1) (1)
Elimination on revaluation ~ EfAA = 3 - - - @)
At31December 016and  RZE—F
1 January 2017 T=R=T—F
RZF—t
£-A-H 255 - 585 391 733 1,964
Charge for the year REETH 12 3 445 542 1,039 2,041
Disposals hE - - (237) - - (237)
Exchange differences ERER = - - - 181 181
Elimination on revaluation St 444 - 3) - - - 3)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+-A=t+-8 267 - 793 933 1,953 3,946
Carrying amount; REEE:
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+4F
+-A=+-H 333 90 1,384 2,258 2,635 6,700
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—RE
+-A=1-H 345 97 1,552 781 3,855 6,630

At 31 December 2017 the leasehold land of HK$333,000 (2016:
HK$345,000) and the buildings of HK$90,000 (2016: HK$97,000)
are pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings
amounted to HK$423,000 (2016: HK$442,000).

MN-—ZT—+F+=-HA=+—8 333000/
TE(ZZ— 7N 13450008 7T) B & £
290,000 7T (= ZF—7<4 : 97,0008 L) Z
BFEEFEARNERE4L23,0008 T(=F
— 75 1 442,000 D) RITIEE 2 MM o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

18.

19.

96

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The Group's buildings held for own use were revalued at 31
December 2017 and 2016 on net replacement cost approach
by DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent firm of
chartered surveyors.

If the buildings held for own use were stated on the historical
cost basis, their carrying amounts would be as follows:

18. M2 - BB KRR (&)

REBRBEE A ZEFHB TR ZRTT
HERTARATR-_E—+tER-_ZE—X
F+ - A=+ BHERFEERARETERS -

M EE A 2 IR R B AR EL S8R - B
BREEWT :

2017 2016
—E—+F AN S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost BN 780 780
Accumulated depreciation ESrar (444) (424)
336 356

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWHE
2017 2016
—E—+F AN S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January m—H—H = =
Transfer from inventories BEEEA 248,319 =
Fair value gains NEER S 110,081 -
At 31 December Rt+=—_A=+—H 358,400 -

Investment properties were transferred from inventories on 31
December 2017. Investment properties were revalued as at 31
December 2017 on the direct comparison approach by
reference to market evidence of recent transactions for similar
properties by DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an
independent firm of chartered surveyors.

At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of investment

properties pledged as security for the Group's bank borrowings
amounted to HK$358,400,000 (2016: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

20. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

20.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017

are as follows:

TERBLE

R-BE—+tF+_A=+—HBXENBLA

ZEEBESIT

Percentage of
ownership interests

REEEREIL
Place of Particulars
incorporation of issued and
Name and operation paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
R R ERITRAR
a8 =E 300 RAZEE B BE FEEE
China Graphene Holdings British Virgin 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - Investment Holding
Limited Islands SRLEE 12£ 70,2 100 BT A A% REZER
RERZHE
Century Elegant Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - 100%  Provision of property
EMERAA] B 1R B management services
REMEEERE
Cheung Kee Garden Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and 450,000 = 100%  Provision of horticultural
RCERBRAA BH non-voting deferred shares services
100 A% & 378 A% K2 450,000 A% R E R
BREERLER
Donwin Property Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares - 100%  Property holding
RRBEEXEBRAT BH 2L Ak MERR
Sui Chong Finance Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of financing
e M BARAR o 2RE R and management
services, money
lending and trading
of securities
RURE R EERS
BEEBRELFRS
Sui Chong International Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of property
Resources Limited B 1,000 A& & 3@ A% management and
hEERERERAR project management
services
RUMEEEREEE
BRBE%
Super Homes Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and = 100%  Property development
o 100 non-voting deferred shares MEER

100 fix & 38 A K2 100 i
BRREELTR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

20. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. MtE ARl (&)

Percentage of
ownership interests

BEREZASL
Place of Particulars
incorporation of issued and
Name and operation paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
FEM AR 3L BRTRARE
=1 =St RAFEE HE BiE TEER
WI Capital Co., Limited Japan JPY800,000,000 - 100%  Investment Holding
("WI Capital”) B 800,000,000 H BEER
WI Graphene Co., Limited Japan JPY384,000,000 = 100%  Manufacturing and
(“WI Graphene”) =P 384,000,000 H sale of graphene

98

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

Note:

On 15 September 2016, WI Capital entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Agreement”) with Graphene Platform Corporation (“GP”) pursuant
to which both parties agreed to form a joint venture for manufacturing of
graphene and related products in Japan. The joint venture namely WI Graphene
Co., Limited (“WI Graphene”) was incorporated on 24 October 2016. According to
the Shareholders” Agreement, WI Capital and GP shall own 80% and 20% equity
interest of WI Graphene respectively and the Group shall make its capital
contribution by cash and GP shall make its capital contribution by way of granting
WI Graphene the right of using certain patents. Wi Capital paid its capital
contribution of JPY384 million (equivalent to HK$29,687,000) in cash which
represented the entire 100% paid up and issued capital of WI Graphene. On 13
January 2017, WI Graphene and GP signed a license agreement pursuant to
which GP granted WI Graphene the right for using of certain patents. Up to the
date of approval of these financial statements, the procedures for allotment of
shares to GP are still in progress. Given that WI Capital is able to control the joint
venture, the joint venture has been classified as a subsidiary of the Group.
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and graphene —

related products
EERHERRBR

ARIEHEEER

ERBIIHAEERE EERBEBKRE
BEREZHBRRFE -

GEX

W ZZ —/"F N A+ A B W Capital £ Graphene
Platform Corporation ([GPJ) 7] 3z % 3 1# &% ([ A% & 1#
#D) B FTREFREK A AAREER 2 KA
HERHNEZEDE &% D %W Graphene Co.,
Limited) (TwWi Graphene ) R =Z—RF+A=Z+MHAK
37 o AR 1R AR B 13 &% - WI Capital RGP # 9 B # B WI
Graphene 2 80% K& 20% iz ## + RAEB B AR SFE K
GP i@ 8 WI Graphene % it & T B FI6E B 2 7 =0
& - WI Capital 2 bAZR € < H )% & 384,000,000 H 7t (48
E7429,687,000% 7T) + AHE K WI Graphene 23 100% E,
BREETRA - R=ZFT—tF—A+=A"W
Graphene £2 GP % 3 %5 7 1 7% * 1% It GP [} WI Graphene
BRHEETEMNERE BEZSUVBBRERILEBS @\
GPERE AR Z IR PP AR EITH o E EEIWI Capital 4%
Fle&EhtE  SECEDERAKENBERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REEE R 2 RE
2017 2016
—E2—+tH —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHIT
Unlisted investments: JELETIRE
Share of net assets EIHEEFE 12,541 =

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2017 are as

AEER -_F—tF+-_A=+—BRE=

follows: NAIZIREFHBOAT -
Percentage of
Place of ownership
incorporation/  Issued and interest/voting
Name registration paid up capital power/profit sharing  Principal activities
AL BRTR REERER BRER/
%8 o i it 26 BERAK MNErEzEIL TEEEK
Direct Indirect
Hi k3
Five Color Stone Technology The Cayman Islands 30,000,000 ordinary shares 28% - Investment holding
Corporation REHS 30,000,000 i & @ A% REER
AEGEARMRNOERAR Taiwan Registered capital of TWD1,000,000 - 28%  investment holding
=) & 781,000,000 7 & #& BEER
Taiwan Mutron Applied Taiwan Registered capital of TWD1,000,000 - 22.4%  Manufacturing and
Materials Limited =) & 7K 1,000,000 %7 & #& sale of graphene and
AEXEIEMRNEBR AT graphene - related
products
HEERFEERERK
ARFEEEER

The following table shows information on the associates that is
material to the Group. These associates are accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
The summarised financial information presented is based on
the HKFRS financial statements of the associates.

TRINFHAEEMEBERZBERFE
£t o R FHERR AR AR A M BHRE
S8R - MG ERMEDERMERRZEE
S ER SRR 2T -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

100

21. REBEQ R Z2RE (&)

(CONTINUED)
2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FHBT
At 31 December: R+=ZB=+—-8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 29,898
current assets MEEE 39,434
Non-current liabilities E )N = (43)
Current liabilities mEAE (24,500)
Net assets BEFE 44,789
Group's share of carrying amount of interests A& EE LR
BREE 12,541
Year ended 31 December: BE+t-A=t—HLEEE:
Revenue Iz _
Loss from continuing operations FHEREEBER (548)
Loss after tax from discontinued operations B HEEER 2 BRI ER =
Other comprehensive income Hi2ma= (247)
Total comprehensive income 2EIREBEE (795)

Dividends received from associate
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE-—Z—tF+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT
Horticultural plants E&EY 462 431
Completed properties held for sale EIELET I - 248,319
462 248,750
As at 31 December 2017, the properties were transferred from n= tF+-A=+—8  WEBREE

completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
the differences between the fair values and carrying amounts
upon transfer, amounting to HK$110,081,000 (2016: Nil), were
recognised in profit or loss as fair value gain on investment
properties.

At 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of completed
properties held for sale pledged as security for the Group’s
bank borrowings amounted to HK$248,319,000.

T
HECERMEEBRERENE  ERER
iRy P HE R B 2 Al 2 22 %8 4% 110,081,000
AL(ZF—RF : &) ERBRETHERASK
BYERZ N FEWE -

R-ZB-—RF+-A=+—80 2BHEX
SERTEREZERRZFHELETKYE
2 BRIE{E /& 248,319,000 & 7T °
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e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EZ R HEHMEWERIE
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Trade receivables Z 5 W AR 958 1,064
Allowance for doubtful debts RERE A (191) -
767 1,064
Prepayments for property, plant and Y« R N ERE 2 AN B
equipment (Note (i) (HEE®)) 37,442 -
Other prepayments H T RRIB 2,426 2,579
Rental and other deposits HeMEMIZS 2,386 1,499
Escrow money receivable (Note (i) FE UL =% 20 0A (B =E () - 20,351
Loan receivables FERE K = 2,344
Other receivables E U R IR 1,887 1,246
44,908 29,083
Analysed as: B THEEAHT
Current assets mMBNEE 7,466 29,083
Non-current assets EMEEE 37,442 T
44,908 29,083
The credit term is generally 30 days. The Group seeks to EEH—MAIH - AEERBREERER
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. N2 EBGRIE - @R N BB ESEH
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the Directors. =6 o
The aging analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice REZAMGE B SRR (kR EE)
date, and net of allowance, is as follows: ZHRER DT
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
0 to 90 days 0£90H 705 830
91 to 180 days 912180 H 60 234
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 2 =
767 1,064
As at 31 December 2017, an allowance was made for RZE—+tF+ZH=1+—8 ' HhsrEx
estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of approximately ez E 5 EWRFKE 1910008 (=
HK$191,000 (2016: Nil). — R T)EIEHBE -
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e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables:

23. EZ R EMEWARE (&)

B 5 RUSRR Z BEERINT

2017 2016

—g-—t&E —Tx&E

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FABT

At 1 January m—H—H = =
Allowance for the year FRNEE 191 -
At 31 December Rt+=A=+—8” 191 -

As of 31 December 2017, trade receivables of HK$296,000
(2016: HK$582,000) were past due but not impaired. These
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there
iS no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

n=

Z—+tHF+ZA=+—H " 296,000%

T2 B 5 RMERR(ZF —7XF : 582,000/

L) EBBERREE - ZFEZREETS

RZ AT A EH RGBT © &
B P RUSRARZ BRE DT -

e Paras
A% =T

2017 2016

—E—t5F —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

Up to 3 months BEZE3EA 234 347
3t0 6 months 3MAZE6MA 60 235
6 t0 12 months 6EAZE12MEA = -
Over 1 year 1F A E 2 -
296 582

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are
denominated in HKD.

Note:

0]

On 19 September 2016, WI Capital entered into an escrow agreement
with GP pursuant to which WI Capital paid escrow money of JPY300
million (equivalent to HK$20,351,000) to an escrow agent for intention of
purchasing of a plant from GP by WI Graphene. On 13 January 2017, WI
Graphene entered into a plant sale and purchase agreement with GP to
purchase the Graphene Production Machinery and Equipment with
production capacity at a consideration of JPY700 million (equivalent to
HK$47,500,000). GP shall be obliged to complete the construction of the
machinery and equipment. On 16 and 17 January 2017, WI Graphene paid
JPY300 million and JPY240 million (equivalent to HK$37,442,000 in total)
respectively to GP as the prepayment for the purchase. On 21 December
2017, the escrow money of JPY300 million was returned to WI Capital
from the escrow agent. Upon the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the construction of the machinery and equipment is
still in progress.

REE 2 EHRWRFREEABTAHE

BRE -
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RZZT—A"FENA+HIHB W Capital E2EGP ] 32
S E W3 0 51tk WI Capital 5t WI Graphene ##[7 GP
BE-—HBEmMR —EZREAREBEIARES
300,000,000 A 7T (#8% 7 20,351,000 7T) » A=
T—+%F—H+=H ' WI Graphene E2GP 5] 3 —
DEE B & 3% © ) 12700,000,000 B 7T (#HE %
47,500,000 T) R EEE AEEN ARG EERK
RS CPAAERKEBERREZER - R
—T—tHF—A+XAK+LEH W Graphene
[ GP % 31l 3% 1 300,000,000 B 7T K 240,000,000 B
TC(FERE $£37,442,00087T) WEABE <18
NFE R-_ZT—+tF+_A=-+—8 TER
¥ A 2 MWI Capital3& 38 300,000,000 B Tt & £ ©
HEZSHBEREAMEDS  EERIBIESR
IREITH ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24. BAFEFABEZZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FETT
Equity securities, at fair value NS /N T |
Listed in Hong Kong BBELET 737 581
Analysed as: BN
Current assets mENEE 737 581
The carrying amounts of the above financial Ll eREE REE
assets are classified as follows: DT :
Held for trading BIEER 737 581
The fair values of listed securities are based on current bid EBEHF R ENGBRITEABETAHE ©
prices.

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 25. EHHBRITFRURRERESE

CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEY
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERE 71,191 83,707
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BRI TR (13,769) (8,120)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFASEEY 57,422 75,587
The Group's pledged bank deposits represented deposits REEDEIPRITEFIEEE IR TRITIER
pledged to bank to secure bank borrowings granted to the BTAREERITEENER - FEHREGEE
Group as set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial W HERAMFE27 ©
statements.
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e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. B RHEMENIRE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E-RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Trade payables FERTE 5 BRI 150 605
Other payables and accrued charges HAb S ARTE MBS 8,618 7,321
Amount due to a director FEN—%EEHE 1,664 9,150
Receipt-in-advance JEH N 22 241 122
10,673 17,198

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

B

BHRMNEFIRERE R B HE D 2 REKkD

receipt of goods, is as follows: T :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
0 to 90 days 0z29H 150 605

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are

denominated in HKD.

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

AREE 2B 5 EMNRFREENAETTAHE -

BN —2EFTFAERERR RENARE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-Z

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

27.

106

BANK BORROWINGS

—tEF+-A=+—BLFEE

27. $BITEE

2017 2016

—E—+tHF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT T

Bank loans RITEX 200,000 120,000

The bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities as they
contain a repayment on demand clause. According to the

BRRIRITIEEH AR ERKEEET - WO E
BRBAE - REBEERER  RITEEH

repayment schedule, the bank borrowings are repayable as BT EAEER
follow:

2017 2016
—E—t5F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Within 1 year F—FA 120,000 -
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMRFR 80,000 120,000
200,000 120,000

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are
denominated in HKD.

The interest rate of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31
December 2017 and 2016 was 2% per annum over one-month
HIBOR or 2% per annum below HKD prime rate, whichever is
lower.

The bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Bank loans of HK$200,000,000 (2016: HK$120,000,000) are
secured by (i) the investment properties of HK$358,400,000 as
disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
(if) the land and buildings of HK$423,000 as disclosed in note 18
to the consolidated financial statements, (iii) bank deposits of
not less than HK$6,000,000 and (iv) assignment of rental
income from properties to a designated bank account which is
charged to the bank.

China Graphene Group Limited « FEEREEERAF

AEEZ RITERREBEAEITFE -

#—“—tE&:f—ﬁ¢+:ﬂz+—
ARERTE R EAEBRTAE

8 020 AR AR R R >

FRRGAREE AL S -

RITE IR ZB {’E%JF SN SE
Enufﬁimbgﬂj Tﬂ

8 77 & & 200,000,000 T ( = & —/—¢
120,000,000/ 7T ) LA T 71 & I8 E K38 -
AEM@&%WE‘H%@’H&E@&%%%
358,400,000 7T, * (i) &= & B 75 3R R FI 718
Fﬁ?&&gii@&@$42$,oooﬁém (i) R 1777
A 126,000,000 7% 7T K (iv) 82 52 ) Z w9
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

28. DEFERRED TAXATION

28.

(a) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:
The Group had no material unprovided deferred tax
liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 December 2017, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
HK$399,921,000 (2016: HK$364,865,000) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the tax losses can
be utilised will be available in the relevant taxation authority
and the relevant entity. The tax losses of HK$380,403,000
(2016: HK$359,475,000) that are available for offsetting
against future profits do not expire under current tax
legislation. The tax loss of HK$19,519,000 (2016:
HK$5,390,000) attributable to the continuing operations in
Japan are available for offsetting against future profits that
may be carried forward for nine years for Japan income tax
purpose.

IEFERIH

(Q) REBRAZELEHBEAE -
AEERZZ—tFR TR RE+=
A=+—BETHARERBENENE
EFIEEE -

(b) REBERZELEHIBEEE
R-_ZE—+tF+-_A=1+—8 A&H
I 4 5.399,921,00078 7o ( —F — /XN F ¢
364,865,000 7T ) < R &t i I8 E5 18 1 R
BLEMREEE  BAEEZHBEE X
6128 2 B2 TN K AT B 2 AE oK R JE AR it ba A
LAEFR I BB IR8H 2 B - IRIBIR TS
SRR 0 5% A A VEIE $E 45 2% B M9 F 08
/5 18380,403,00078 ;o( = T — /X & ¢
359,475,000 75 ) I K EI 8 o FB {E 4K 85
15 2 I Y B (G B AR B AR & TS
T 5 1819,519,00078 T ( = & — /X & ¢
5,390,000/ 7T ) * Al ft B AR RIS T 459
¢ °

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. IR
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE-RF
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
B8 A &5 RHEE G|
"000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T THET TR T
ordinary shares, issued &R @ EBTR
and fully paid: F
At 1 January and R—A—BK
31 December +—-_A=+—H 2,819,102 140,955 2,819,102 140,955

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maximise the return to the shareholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
adjusted capital. Total debt comprises bank borrowings.
Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share

capital, retained profits and other reserves).

AEEEREAZ BEEEREAKERE
REZeeh  BRBCEREERS 2 FE -
REA N R AR -

AEBLEHRLARREN LR 7 REER
BN o ZRIZEBFRRALHBRERN
AE - BRARERRTEE - KRBRE
RBfERD 2 AARE D (BIRA - RE
it A J B At ) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &HZE_—-F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

29.

108

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Group’s long-term policy, which was unchanged from
2016, is that net debt should be in the range of 16% to 45% of
adjusted capital. This policy aims to ensure that the Group
secures access to finance at a reasonable cost and lowers its
net of tax weighted average cost of capital. The debt-to-
adjusted capital ratios at 31 December 2017 and at 31

—tEF+-A=+—BLFEE

29. B (&)
AEET ERREE_"T—

NEMRER EE

ﬁ/$%EWEZ‘<<ﬂ%§§$Z16%i45%§@ h
A o HEUGR B ERARAEBRIN AR
BEERE - W EERTIE INETHERK
KEFE - RZE—tFF+A=F+—HEKZ=
T RE+ A=+ HEEYHEHAEER

December 2016 were as follows: R
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Total debt (EvE L 200,000 120,000
Less: pledged bank deposits B BEEIRRITER (13,769) (8,120)
Less: cash and cash equivalents B RERIREEEY (57,422) (75,587)
Net debt B F 58 128,809 36,293
Total equity b 284,266 231,553
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEREAREE AR X 45% 16%

The increase in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during 2017 E’\

resulted primarily from increase of bank borrowings.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are:
(i) in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to
have a public float of at least 25% of the shares; and (i) to meet
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing
borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly
on substantial share interests showing the non-public float and
it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit
throughout the year. As at 31 December 2017, 25.07% (2016:
25.07%) of the shares were in public hands.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the
bank to immediately call borrowings. There have been no
breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing
borrowing for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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L EHURBEERLEEN
R RRAT I L AT -

AREBEZRRIATINERIEINEARRTE © ()

BT R A i
HEHJEF“

2 VMR 25% 2
Fibit 2 B s 25 o

HERBHFRK

AEBESABEERNBEEREHENTIRIE
RRATHBTEROERIRE - ZHE
BARAEBERNBEFEN—EET25% &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 30. & T B iR 0 = I (L8 8 B
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) 2~ B B # Ak S %
As at 31 December
W+=—HA=+—H
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF ZE—REF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FET AT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—HERB AR Z’E 20 7,813 7,813
Pledged bank deposits DIEAIRITIER 13,769 8,120
21,582 15,933
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H At R U AR IR 146 242
Due from subsidiaries A NGB 261,908 227,819
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRSZEY 27,436 41,482
289,490 269,543
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMERIRIE 681 1,127
Bank borrowings RITEE 200,000 120,000
200,681 121,127
Net current assets REEEFE 88,809 148,416
NET ASSETS BEEFE 110,391 164,349
Capital and reserves BAR &
Share capital A% 2R 140,955 140,955
Reserves ] 30(b) (30,564) 23,394
TOTAL EQUITY S 110,391 164,349
Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2018 and are RZE-N\EFE=A-t+tHhBAKEFSHE -
signed on behalf by: WHETIHEERREE
Chen Meng Zhou Chen
[(C¥ AR

Annual Report 2017 « —E—+E &£ 109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S B I R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 30. A A G B R R R R ZE S 5

31.

110

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company: (b) =R FREZBEWT -
Capital Investment
Share redemption Contributed revaluation Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve losses Total
BARE REE(
RE ffE  HARH fifs  RiEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFhL TAR FAT SR TAR Fan
At 1 lanuary 2016 R-E—5—F-A 2,770 121 234,897 5,130 (161,017) 105,901
Total comprehensive income for the year ERZENREE = = = (5,130) (77,377) (82,507)
At 31 December 2016 R-E—"5+-A=1-H 2,770 121 234,897 - (238,394) 23,394
At 1 lanuary 2017 R-E—t£-f-A 26,770 121 234,897 - (238,394) 23,394
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZENGER - - - - (53,958) (53,958)
At 31 December 2017 R-EB—t4%+-B=1-H 26,770 121 234,897 - (292352) (30,564
RESERVES 31. f#E
(a) Group (@) x&H
The amounts of the Group'’s reserves and movements REBZREEcBLEEHNGESER
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of FHEME2EmKERIARGAESEER
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and NEI
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b)FEZMERBH

(i) Share premium reserve

(i) KRtEE

Share premium represents premium arising from the
issue of shares at a price in excess of their par value
per share. The application of the share premium
account is governed by the Company Act 1981 of
Bermuda.

(ii) Capital redemption reserve

The application of the capital redemption reserve is
governed by the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(iii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company and the aggregate of the share
capital and the share premium accounts of the
subsidiaries acquired. Under the Company Act 1981 of
Bermuda, the Company may make distributions to its
members out of contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—-Z
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

31. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

—tEF+-A=+—BLFE

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv)Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 4(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(v) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets held at the end of the reporting
period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 4(i)(iii) to the consolidated

financial statements.

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

31. e (&)

(b) w2 EER B /Y ()
(iv) 51 (B 5 1 1
SMSTE N R B R B R BRI
BHBHRRELEZESEZR - ZHE
TREER G IR M T A I
FTRREEE ©

(v) REE R #E
REEHFEERERNREHAFEZ
AEHESRMEE 2 R AFEES
@@ I AR 5 R A B 75 s R B RE 4()
(i) 2 SFTBER R IE -

RERERBRMEE

BMETHELEZEBHR

TREVNEEAEERETHAEEZAR
SHHG BRACMIFESEDY - BERL
Ebﬁfr%i@sZfﬁﬁméﬁaﬂﬁzﬂﬁf\ﬁﬁ
BEHGeBHeRERNSIBARETHELZ
iﬁi//mi

Interest
expenses/
1 January Actual finance lease 31 December
2017  Cash flows charges 2017
R=Z—+tF
R-B—+tfF FEMx +=A
—HA—H EBERELRE RMEHEIIZH Sqr=I[g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FH&T
Bank borrowings (note 27) TEE (MEE27) 120,000 75,611 4,553 200,164

Annual Report 2017 « —Z—+FF 111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA tatE)

33.

34.

112

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In previous years, a subsidiary of the Group sold a property to
a buyer. The buyer alleged that the subsidiary made certain
representations in selling of the property. The buyer filed a
claim with the High Court in Hong Kong claiming the repayment
of consideration of approximately HK$9.8 million paid in
purchasing the property and rescission of the contract together
with related costs, interests and damages. The subsidiary filed
a defense against the claim. The Directors of the Company are
of the view that the buyer’s claim is based on unreasonable
and invalid grounds and therefore unfounded. In view of the
inherent uncertainties of the legal proceedings, the outcome of
which cannot be estimated reliably at this stage, the Directors
of the Company considered that no specific provision should
be made in the financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting
period but not yet incurred are as follows:

33.

34.

HREE

BEFE  ASE-—HHNBARLE MY
ETED - EHERHNBARNLEMES
EHETRBHA - BEHTARBTESST AR 2
SRAEE BB B a2 % P 49.9,800,00078 7T 2
RE - RBEHA LSRR - FE K
BER - ZMBRARIRIEREERYEAR - K
RAESRARBETHRIDERTEE MER
BEBRLESEKRE - ERARFAZA
ETEEN - FRGERNANE BREER] R
it ARBEFTRA/TENMBHRER S EH
AR -

BARERE

R B - BRETEIRESE 2 BRI
o -

2017 2016

—E—tF T RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Property, plant and equipment M - WEREE 13,867 -
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e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

35. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee
At 31 December 2017 the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

35. HAEE

REBEAEBEA
MN-Z—+F+-FA=1+—08  BRETAH
HCEANET BREMN 2 &EBLORIELR
AR :

2017 2016

=gt -2 A7

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FAT

Within one year —FR 4,589 4,155
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_ZERF(REEREME) = 3,881
4,589 8,036

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for an
average term of two years and rentals are fixed over the lease
terms and do not include contingent rentals.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$10,126,000 (2016: HK$6,953,000). All of the Group's
investment properties are held for rental purposes. They are
expected to generate rental yields of 3% on an ongoing basis.

At 31 December 2017 the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as

REMOFRBEAREREETHAEZE
S HEOCHALERRFIREM
F o ENBERNESTE - BAEEIAES -

AEBEEREBEA

AN S ATRRER 2 M 58 € A A 10,126,000
BT (ZZT—/K4F : 6,953,000/870) ° NEEE
ZFBEREMEARFERERS - TBET%Z
EYEBIFEEE3% 2 A WEER -

RZB—+F+_A=+—8  RETAH
HEEHAWRT B ER Z XIEBLFKIRE

follows: FEOAN ¢
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Within one year —&FR 6,760 6,531
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEFRLF (BEEEMTE) 111 3,055
6,871 9,586
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S B I R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE=—ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BEEALRS
(@) Key management personnel remuneration (@) EEEEEAEFMH
The remuneration for key management personnel of the REBTFBEEERAB WS (21
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's 2B N TARRIESESE
Directors as disclosed in note 26 and certain of the MM 15 EzE TaesES)
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 15, is as R
follows:
2017 2016
—2—t& "—TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHIT
Basic salaries and allowances BERH & RERL 26,968 26,122
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R AT IR 193 91
27,161 26,213
(b) Material balances with related parties: (b) EEBEALZEKXLERR
The Group had the following material balances with RNEEBEEA T 2 EBRERNAT ¢
related parties:
2017 2016
—E—tHF NS
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Name of related party BEALZRE
Amount due to a director — Li Feng Mao ERNESRIE -FEX 1,664 9,150
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Group Properties
EEY =%

Particulars of the Group’s major properties held for sale as at 31

AEER-_Z—+tFT_A=T—HBHFELEZ

December 2017 are as follows: FEMEFBOAT -
Percentage
Gross floor area interest attributable
B REE to the Group
Location Existing Use sq. m. AEEEGERS
ih 24 REAE T 75K Bo
30 units of THE ICON, 38 Conduit Road, Residential 1,953 100%

Mid-levels, Hong Kong
BB TEEIRR *=

THE ICON #Y 30 1 B8 {iz
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sSummary Financial Information
MBERBE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets  AEBZ THIM TSl EEGH 2 B A B ELE
and liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out inthe note HEEELKEBEZBEHT :
below:

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1t—HLEFE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
8t —T-F —FT-1FfF —T-ME —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000

TER TAT THET TAT TAT

RESULTS &
Revenue Wz 4,446 5,442 12,210 5,351 4,380
Profit/(loss) before tax B ADES,(E18) 51,898 (43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144)
Income tax expense FTiERiRAY = = = = =
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(EE) 51,898 (43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144)
Attributable to owners of RRRER AEMSL
the Company 51,898 (43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144)
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—2—+t& —TRFE —T-HFE —T-NF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FEx FET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FERBEE 428,852 14,750 10,835 4,545 3,568
Current assets TEEE 66,087 354,001 282,919 295,316 328,433
Current liabilities nREEE (210,673) (137,198) (5,468) (9,415) (19,147)
Non-current liabilities E )= = = = = =
Net assets BEFE 284,266 231,553 288,286 290,446 312,854
Total equity ERBR 284,266 231,553 288,286 290,446 312,854
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